

foodpath C

Review of Best Practice for Interventions to Reduce Consumer Food Waste

DELIVERABLE 1B











Food Path

Food Path is collaborative research project involving Queen's University Belfast, the Regional Waste Management Offices and led by the Clean Technology Centre, Munster Technological University.

This project is funded under the EPA Research Programme 2014-2020. The EPA Research Programme is a Government of Ireland initiative funded by the Department of the Environment, Climate and Communications. It is administered by the Environmental Protection Agency, which has the statutory function of co-ordinating and promoting environmental research.

Food Path aims to identify existing best practice in consumer behaviour change and food waste prevention, and to apply this through intervention trials in Irish communities. This work will inform Ireland's response to food waste prevention and the achievement of UN Sustainable Development Goal: Target 12.3.

Context of Report

This report is one of two outputs for Food Path Workpackage 1. It consists of a detailed review of food waste prevention best practices and interventions. It is accompanied by the report: *Review of Relevant Consumer Behaviour Change Studies and Initiatives*, which provides a broader view of behaviour change policies and interventions that are relevant to food waste prevention.

These dual reports have been published to combine knowledge from the well-established areas of research such as such as health promotion, diet, climate action and energy conservation, with that from the developing discipline of food waste prevention.

This report, led by the Clean Technology Centre, MTU aims to compile best practice guidance and key examples of consumer food waste interventions. This finding from this work will be combined with those from the wider review of behaviour change interventions to inform future food waste prevention activities in Ireland, in particular the upcoming Food Path intervention design.

DISCLAIMER

Although every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the material contained in this publication, complete accuracy cannot be guaranteed. The Environmental Protection Agency, the author(s) and the steering committee members do not accept any responsibility whatsoever for loss or damage occasioned, or claimed to have been occasioned, in part or in full, as a consequence of any person acting, or refraining from acting, as a result of a matter contained in this publication. All or part of this publication may be reproduced without further permission, provided the source is acknowledged.

This report is based on research carried out/data from April 2020 to January 2021. More recent data may have become available since the research was completed.

The EPA Research Programme addresses the need for research in Ireland to inform policymakers and other stakeholders on a range of questions in relation to environmental protection. These reports are intended as contributions to the necessary debate on the protection of the environment.

Table of Contents

1.	INTR	INTRODUCTION	
	1.1	BACKGROUND	1
	1.2	AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	
	1.3	STATE OF RESEARCH ON HOUSEHOLD FOOD WASTE PREVENTION	
•	DECT		
2.	BEST	PRACTICE IN FOOD WASTE INTERVENTIONS	
	2.1	DEFINING FOOD WASTE	7
	2.2	THEORETICAL BASIS FOR INTERVENTION DESIGN	9
	2.2.1	Theory of Planned Behaviour	9
	2.2.2	Social Practice Theory	11
	2.3	SYSTEMS THINKING AND LOGIC MAPPING	13
	2.3.1	Systems thinking	13
	2.3.2	Logic mapping	14
	2.4	EVALUATION	15
	Evalu	nation Methods	15
	2.4.1	Surveys or Interviews	17
	2.4.2	Interviews	19
	2.4.3	Food Waste Diaries	19
	2.4.4	Waste Composition Analysis & Direct Weighing	20
	2.4.5	Photographs	23
	2.4.6	Inference	24
3.	INTE	RVENTIONS	25
	3.1	INFORMATION	26
	3.1.1	Awareness	28
	3.1.2	Prompts	28
	3.1.3	Skills	29
	3.2	SOCIAL INFLUENCE	29
	3.2.1	Social Norms	30
	3.2.2	Block leaders and social networks	31
	3.2.3	Public commitment making	33
	3.2.4	Modelling	<i>3</i> 3
	3.2.5	-	
	3.3	PSYCHOLOGY	

4. CONCLUSIONS						
_	221					
	3.8	INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY (ICT)	39			
	3.7	VOLUNTARY AGREEMENTS, STRATEGIES AND GUIDANCE	38			
	3.6	NUDGES AND THE ORGANISATION OF CHOICE ARCHITECTURE	37			
	3.5	REGULATIONS	37			
	3.4	ECONOMIC INSTRUMENTS	36			
	3.3.1	Dissonance based	35			

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

Food waste is a global issue that countries across the world are working to address. Both food waste and its prevention are complicated topics. The issue of food waste occupies a unique space closely linked with wider sustainability. It interacts with areas such as global consumption, health, land-use and food security, in addition to questions of moral philosophy, hunger and the industrialisation of food. Food waste continues to attract considerable attention in academic (Quested et al., 2013; C. Reynolds et al., 2019; Schanes et al., 2018) and popular literature (e.g. Stuart, 2009, Bloom, 2010), as well as in policy at European, national, organisation and community levels (DCCAE, 2019; EPA, 2019; EC, 2015; EPRS, 2017). The problem of food waste is widely recognised as one that has yet to be adequately addressed. The UN Food and Agricultural Association (FAO) (2015) estimate that 1.3 billion tonnes of food is wasted globally each year. The International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2019) highlight that approximately 25%-30% of all food produced worldwide is lost or wasted.

Food waste prevention

Reductions in the current levels of food waste worldwide will allow a relative reduction in global food production and therefore allow for significant improvements in terms of carbon emissions and broader environmental and social impacts (Hawkins, 2017; Quested, 2013). National, regional and business level food waste reduction targets have been in place in many countries since the 2010s. Since 2015, a global food waste prevention target has been in place as part of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (Target 12.3). This target aims to:

"By 2030, halve per capita global food waste at the retail and consumer levels and reduce food losses along production and supply chains, including post-harvest losses."

Champions 12.3 is a coalition of executives from across the food system who are dedicated to achieving this target. According to this group, governments should apply the three-step approach – *Target, Measure, Act.* Progress is being made, in particular with state-level food waste measurement, but at a rate that may not be fast enough to achieve this goal. According to the 2019 global progress report, government representing just 15% of the world's population are working at scale to reduce food waste. They state that more governments and businesses need to take stronger actions against food waste (Champions 12.3, 2020).

Household food waste prevention

Food waste occurs throughout the food supply chain. Thus, in order to affect real change in the incidence of food waste, a multi-disciplinary approach, with meaningful system-wide action is required. However, it has been clearly identified that a significant proportion of overall waste occurs at the consumer level. Estimates of EU food waste attribute 53% of overall food waste to the household level (Stenmarck et al., 2016). When wasted at this late stage, food has typically undergone a range of transportations, processing, storage and even cooking. As such, it represents the accumulated embedded environmental impacts of all previous stages of food supply and thus is the most environmentally significant. Interventions within the manufacturing, retail and food service sectors can influence household food waste. Changes to packaging technology, pack sizes, promotion and marketing, serving practices etc can have a direct effect on food that is subsequently wasted at the consumer stage. However, there is an opportunity for direct consumer focussed interventions to be implemented concurrently.

Along with many other countries, Ireland is committed to the achievement of the SDGs. With food waste reduction targets just 10 years away, it is clear that consumer facing campaigns or interventions must be effective in order to have necessary impact. Since 2008, the Irish government, through the EPA, has been actively addressing household food waste through a number of National Waste Prevention Programmes (NWPP) initiatives, primarily the Stop Food Waste Programme¹. Food waste has been included as a priority sector in Ireland's Waste Action Plan for a Circular Economy. As part of this plan, a Food Waste Prevention Roadmap

¹ https://stopfoodwaste.ie/

will be developed (Government of Ireland, 2020). This is due to take place in the coming months.

1.2 Aims and Objectives

Through this research project, we aim to bring together insights from across behavioural science including sociology, psychology and behavioural economics. An in-depth analysis of best-practice behaviour-change-based food waste prevention interventions will inform the design of a set of effective consumer-focused food waste prevention interventions for Ireland.

The objective of this report is to gather and synthesise existing information on household food waste prevention best practice. Information has been gathered from various sources, including behaviour change theory, best practice guidelines and examples of previous interventions. The term intervention in this case is taken to mean any activity that is designed and implemented with the aim of reducing food waste. The information outlined here will be used to inform the design and implementation of food waste prevention interventions later in the project. We also aim to provide up-to-date and relevant information for project stakeholders on the best practice of reducing household food waste.

1.3 State of Research on Household Food Waste Prevention

The level of work on food waste prevention is rapidly increasing (Schanes et al., 2018). In the last 2 years alone, several significant bodies of work have been published, summarising previous interventions and proposing best practice for the future. Of particular relevance to this project is the EU Horizon 2020 project *Refresh*. This large scale, multi-stakeholder project aimed to reduce avoidable food waste and improve the valorisation of food resources through social, technological, and organisational insights and practices related to food waste². Other relevant work includes the recent review papers by Reynolds et al., (2019), Kim et al. (2019), Schanes et el., (2018) and Hebrok & Boks (2017).

While there are numerous recent and emerging articles and reports dealing with concepts around food waste prevention (e.g., the drivers, determinants, barriers, motivations, attitudes), there are still relatively few detailing interventions with quantified results. A general shortage of food waste prevention interventions that have been sufficiently evaluated can be observed (Stöckli, Niklaus, et al., 2018). Reynolds et al., (2019) identified just 17 articles featuring applied interventions, with only six of these focussing on household or community level waste.

Of course, not all food waste prevention interventions are reported in peer-reviewed literature or indeed even through websites or published reports. Many actions are implemented at a community or local authority level or in some cases by private organisations. However, without access to information evaluating these interventions, it is difficult to draw reliable conclusions or insights into their efficacy. Where interventions are evaluated, there is currently a reliance on self-reporting as a measure of success. This is the case across intervention types and reporting media. While of course some evaluation is better than nothing, this approach has intrinsic limitations. The difficulties of effective evaluation are discussed in section 2.3

-

² https://eu-refresh.org/

Within an Irish context, a number of relevant research projects have been carried out in the recent past. TriFOCAL, was an EU Life project that was focused on London, UK but included a replication phase in Dublin (TRiFOCAL, 2020). While the main research activities included food waste prevention, the Dublin work focused on source segregation of food waste in apartments. In 2016, as part of a research project on government policy for behaviour change O'Rafferty studied the existing food waste prevention and home composting programme run by Stop Food Waste (Open Practices, 2016). Davies et al., (2017) implemented food waste prevention interventions as part of wider sustainable household consumption research. More detail on these interventions will be provided in Section 3 Interventions.

We have attempted to gather insights on best practice from a variety of sources. However, in addition to the general scarcity of largescale direct interventions, there is typically a lack of material evaluating the effectiveness of such intervention types. Consequently, it is difficult to draw reliable conclusions about the efficacy of the reported interventions. With this in mind, the best practices that are explored in this report are those that have been explicitly stated as such, rather than those that could be inferred from their use.

However, there is much existing knowledge in the parallel areas of behaviour change, particularly relating to diet, health and environment related behaviour change. In fact, reviewing existing knowledge both in food waste prevention and other related fields is a recommended aspect in the design of such food waste interventions (Quested, 2019). Consequently, through this work package, we aim to achieve exactly that.

The broad, high-level best practices relevant to food waste prevention are discussed in section 2 while the more targeted best practices are provided in Section 3, organised according to intervention type.

2. Best Practice in Food Waste Interventions

This section compiles aspects and examples of high-level best practice in food waste interventions presented by several sources. The sources of the best practices themselves are from food waste prevention literature. However, material from wider areas of behaviour change has been drawn on to supplement descriptions and explanations of these practices. A large part of best practice has been gathered from the EU project Refresh, which set out to design policy recommendations and supports for food waste prevention in the EU. Further best practice guidance has been compiled from the EU project FUSIONS and from a wide range of peer-reviewed literature.

Here we gather and present some high-level best practices for food waste prevention. These best practices will be relevant for projects and programmes at both national and local levels, aiming to reduce household food waste.

Some of the broad elements of best practice identified include:

- A clear definition of food waste
- A basis in established theory
- Use of design thinking and logic mapping
- A detailed plan for evaluation

The following table, based on work by FUSIONS and extracted from a report by the Central European Interreg project STREFOWA (2015), provides further best practices principles for food waste prevention work.

Table 1. Best practice principles for food waste prevention activities (STREFOWA, 2015)

Criteria	Description		
targeted	practices that have a strong waste prevention focus, clearly distinct		
	from other waste management strategies or broad environmental goals		
effective	practices based on guidelines, protocols, standards, reports, or preferred		
	practice patterns that have been proven to lead to effective food waste		
	prevention/reduction practices		
measurable	practices that have an evaluation plan in place to measure program		
	outcomes, even if they do not yet have evaluation data available to		
	demonstrate the effectiveness of		
	positive outcomes		
innovative	practices that use original or resourceful techniques for waste		
	prevention		
replicable	practices that can be easily reproduced and are similarly relevant in		
	regions across Europe		

2.1 Defining Food Waste

According to Quested (2019), one of the first steps researchers should take when designing an intervention evaluation is to decide what constitutes food waste. There has been much debate in the past about the definition of food waste. Inconsistencies in definition and classification have caused difficulties in the past in the comparison of food waste studies (Elimelech et al., 2018). In the last number of years much work has been done to standardise food waste definitions and classification systems. In 2012, the project FUSIONS was established to harmonise food waste monitoring in the EU. As part of this work, a definition of food waste was developed. According to FUSIONS, "Food waste is any food, and inedible parts of food, removed from the food supply chain to be recovered or disposed (including composted, crops ploughed in/not harvested, anaerobic digestion, bio-energy production, co-generation, incineration, disposal to sewer, landfill or discarded to sea)" (FUSIONS, 2014). The FAO differ in their definition, distinguishing the notion using two terms "food waste" and "food loss" (FAO, 2013).

It is widely accepted that food losses usually take place at the production, post-harvest and processing stages of the food supply chain (Parfitt et al, 2010). Food waste generally occurs at later stages of the food supply chain when an edible item is unconsumed. It could be argued that the term food loss suggests an inevitability while conversely, food waste might imply something that is avoidable. For Gustavsson et al (2011) food waste includes food produced for human consumption that is later used for a different purpose e.g., feed for animals or biofuel. Sage's concept of food waste extends to include that which is consumed though not needed in the body, i.e., through overeating (2012). The scope of food waste could be extended to all that is edible but is not generally consumed (e.g., insects, rodents, etc.). That which is considered edible and inedible are often socially and culturally determined.

The definition used should reflect the aims of the project or intervention (Quested, 2019).

Food Waste Classification

Inconsistencies in how food waste is measured has led to significant difficulties in comparing results from various food waste prevention or indeed quantification projects (van der Werf et al., 2020). This issue was recognised several years ago, and two major bodies of work were carried out to address it through the development of standardised food waste measurement protocols or methodologies. The first was the EU project FUSIONS, and the second was by an international team, led by the World Resources Institute called the Food Loss and Waste Protocol.

The FLW Standard provides specific requirements and guidance for countries or other entities implementing food waste quantification and reporting. It is designed to be used by entities of any size, in any sector or country and so is purposely flexible in terms of scope. However, there are mandatory requirements for defining project scope and reporting results (FLW, Protocol).

FUSIONS, which preceded FLW produced a high-level methodology for food waste quantification at a more granular level addressing the different stages within the food production/consumption cycle (Tostivint et al., 2016).

Both of these methodologies outline key principles for quantification of food waste and should be consulted when designing a food waste quantification methodology.

2.2 Theoretical Basis for Intervention Design

In their recent review of food waste prevention interventions, Reynolds et al. (2019) call for stronger links between interventions and existing relevant theories. They identify that, while food waste prevention interventions are relatively common, it is still the case that much of this work lacks a link to an established theoretical framework or disciplinary orientation (C. Reynolds et al., 2019). The authors recommend the use of established theory and the findings from previous research to inform future food waste interventions. In doing so, researchers or practitioners can build upon and are guided by previous work. Additionally, readers are not left to inferring connections between cause and effect (C. Reynolds et al., 2019).

There are numerous theoretical frameworks that could be applied to food waste prevention. Examples include, The Theory of Planned Behaviour, social practice theory, behavioural economics, pro-environmental behaviour change and transformative consumer research. To date, there have been two main theoretical frameworks applied to food waste prevention to date. These originate from the fields of psychology and sociology (Schanes et al., 2018). The psychological approach focuses on individual factors affecting behaviour, and most often, the theory of Planned Behaviour is applied. Social practice theory is the other commonly used framework that comes from the field of sociology. This approach shifts the focus from the individual to the behaviour itself (i.e., practice) but also the wider social setting of the behaviour. Due to their prominence in the field of food waste prevention, both of these approaches are discussed below.

2.2.1 Theory of Planned Behaviour

The theory of planned behaviour (TPB) (Ajzen, 1985) is the most frequently used theoretical framework for work in environmental psychology (Schmidt, 2019). This long-established theory is based on the assumption that the stronger one's intention to carry out a behaviour is, the more likely it is that this will occur. The theory, which focuses on the individual, is based

on the principle that intention is the major antecedent for behaviour change. The underlying factor here is 'intention' which in turn is influenced by a number of factors. Within the theory there are core factors that influence an individual's intention. These are attitude towards the behaviour, subjective norm and perceived behavioural control. When applied to food waste, these factors can be described as follows:

Table 2. Core factors of TPB applied to food waste

Attitude	thinks food should not be wasted	
Subjective norm	important people in one's life would not want them to waste food	
Perceived behavioural	confidence in one's own ability to avoid food waste	
control		

To date numerous studies have applied the TPB to investigating or addressing consumer food waste (Graham-Rowe et al., 2014; Russell et al., 2017; Stancu et al., 2016; Stefan et al., 2013; Stöckli, Niklaus, et al., 2018; Visschers et al., 2016; Wajon & Richter, 2019). Some work has found that all three factors have a significant influence on behavioural intention (Graham-Rowe et al., 2015) while other have found no significant associations with one of the factors, for example attitude (Russell et al., 2017) subjective norms (Visschers et al., 2016), and perceived behavioural control (Visschers et al., 2016).

This theory has been regularly extended to incorporate other factors such as anticipated emotions, self-identity, personal norms, taste preferences and habit when examining people's behaviours. When extended factors are included models based on the TPB have accounted for 29-74% of variance in food waste intention and 16-46% of variance in food waste behaviour (Neubig et al., 2020). It is worth noting that the effectiveness to predict actual behaviour is lower than that of intention. While intentions have been shown to correlate with food waste levels, (Stefan et al., 2013) found that when practices such as planning and shopping routines were included in the model, the intentions did not show significant correlation. The explanation offered is that the act of wasting food is not an intentional behaviour but rather a result of more indirect habits or actions. While it may be possible to predict whether a person intends on wasting food, by assessing their attitudes,

norms and behavioural control, whether or not they intend to create food waste is not a good predictor of the waste that they go on to generate.

In response to the limitations of the TPB, an additional and complimentary method for analysing food waste behaviour has been found in the *theories of social practice* (Schanes et al., 2018).

2.2.2 Social Practice Theory

Social practice theory (SPT) has been regularly applied to food waste research. In contrast to the approaches based in environmental psychology, social practice decentralised the individual and instead studies societal constructs. In SPT, rather than the person themselves being the unit of study, or even the behaviour itself, the overall social and collective structures and discourse are the base unit of study (Hargreaves, 2011). This approach acknowledges that individuals are 'embedded' in their wider social, economic and cultural settings and that these factors cannot be decoupled from individuals' behaviour (Schanes et al., 2018). The use of SPT in consumer research is promoted by Warde (2005) who states that practices steer the processes of consumption. Consumption is not a practice itself, rather it exists as an aspect of many everyday practices (Warde, 2005).

Practices, including those relating to food consumption, can be carried out on a somewhat automatic basis (Davies et al., 2017). They can include learned sequences of behaviours - things that are considered to be just 'the way things are done'. In the context of food provision, consumption and in turn food waste, individuals undoubtably have the capacity to make decisions based on their attitudes and beliefs. However, the effect of convention and infrastructure must be taken into account. The ideas we hold of 'the way things are done' are particularly strong for food due to its multifaceted links with other aspects of life such as health, family and culture. Put simply, surrounding context can override cognitive factors (Stern, 2000).

Evans (2011) further argues that there is an over emphasis on the individual or the consumer in food waste prevention work. He argues that while attitudes and values are important

aspects of food management, culturally held norms (such as what constitutes a proper meal) have an impact on what ends up wasted. In addition to this, Evans gives evidence that discarding food is not a carefree activity but often in fact, a manifestation of care (Evans, 2012). He found, through ethnography-based work, that people experience negative emotions such as guilt when discarding food. This has been subsequently supported by Wunder et al. (2019). In fact, in order to alleviate this guilt, people often stagger the disposal process, storing food in the fridge until it is no longer edible to make the act of discarding it less negative. Factors such as health, caregiving, the idea of proper meals all have a very real impact on how individuals manage food. Evans uncovers the significance of our understanding of what constitutes 'a proper meal' and the relative consistency of a household's culinary repertoire and food provision practices. He identifies the discrepancy between the relatively fixed practices of food acquisition/purchasing and the fluid nature of modern life as an important driver of food waste in modern UK households.

In the context of food waste, social practice theory provides a basis to study the practices that surround and result in food waste, at an individual and societal level. SPT has been used on numerous occasions to study food waste in the home (Evans, 2011a, b, 2012a, b; Cappellini, 2009; Cappellini and Parsons, 2012; Ganglbauer et al., 2013; Davies et al., 2016; Lazell, 2016; Leray et al., 2016; Meah, 2014).

With the exception of Davies et al. (2016), these works all use social practice theory to explore concepts around food waste. They do not describe interventions that were quantified. The work by Davies et al. (2015) was carried out in Ireland as part of a wider intervention on sustainable food consumption. The intervention was implemented intensively. The research team worked with five households, and the direct intervention period lasted five weeks. Week three focused on storage of food waste, week four on food waste management, including prevention. Davie et al. used *bundled* interventions. For food waste prevention these included fridge triage boxes, portion control tools and a visit from a chef to discuss meal planning. For food waste management food waste caddies and electronic composters were provided. On average, food waste reductions of 28% were experienced by the participating households. Davies et al. acknowledge the part the researcher plays in the intervention, in

deconstructing and rebuilding household practices. They mention the difficulty this poses to widespread intervention role out.

2.3 Systems Thinking and Logic Mapping

The need for careful consideration of the wider systems that surround food waste has been identified in the literature (Halloran et al., 2014; Wunder et al., 2019). To understand food waste, it cannot be studied in isolation. Food waste is a systemic problem, no one aspect of the food system is entirely responsible for the current levels of waste. The issue is sometimes considered a symptom of a broken food system (Lang, 2020). O'Brien (2013) argues that food waste is entwined within a complex network of relationships and actions which have meaning and value, connecting to broader issues in the industrialisation of food. Consequently, food waste prevention is complex, even in the context of behaviour change. Wasting food is not a behaviour in and of itself, rather a consequence of a wide series of behaviours, themselves influenced by wider social and cultural constructs. Food consumption and therefore food waste has close links with public health, policy and our environment. It is also an integral part of people's everyday habits, relationships, culture and identity. As such, it is argued that for any intervention to successfully address household food waste prevention, there must be thorough consideration to the web of relevant factors, influences and potential outcomes (Halloran et al., 2014).

In order to account for the systematic nature of the issue, the use of "systems thinking" and/or "logic mapping" in intervention design is being called for (Quested, 2019; Wunder et al., 2019). These tools have been widely applied beyond the discipline of food waste prevention. While these approaches differ in detail, they all involve a process of identifying and clearly defining the proposed activities of the intervention, and importantly the potential outcomes of the work.

2.3.1 Systems thinking

System thinking is the processes of thinking about a system as a whole, rather than examining it in the individual parts (Sanneh, 2018). Davidz and Nightingale (2007) define systems

thinking as the "analysis, synthesis and understanding of interconnections, interactions, and interdependencies that are technical, social, temporal and multi-level". When applied to food waste prevention, this approach considers a wide range of factors that influence whether food is wasted in the home, including external drivers, infrastructures and paradigms. It also considers the potential outcomes of an intervention and the effects they may have on aspects other than food waste prevention. Systems thinking generally involves three broad stages. Firstly, all of the relevant stakeholders are identified, secondly the relationships between those are then identified. Finally, the impact of these relationships on each other and on factors outside the system are explored. Food waste could be regarded as being an aspect of the food system. Therefore, the actors earlier in the food supply chain are relevant, both in terms of changes to infrastructure and materiality (e.g. packaging, portion size) but also as potential agents for social change (Quested et al., 2013).

2.3.2 Logic mapping

Logic mapping is recommended by Quested (2019) as an early stage of food waste interventions and he directs to the Magenta Book and Logic Mapping: Hints and Tips for further information on how this could be employed. It is an approach that involves setting out the intended plan for an intervention, including the theories behind it, the activities of the intervention itself, any assumptions being made, expected outcomes, etc. This approach emphasises a need to define behaviours in question clearly. However, this is complicated for food waste prevention because of the large number of relevant behaviours (Quested et al., 2013).

One of the important motivations for this form of preliminary work is that it helps to avoid unintended consequences from food waste interventions. Consideration of potential unintended, or rebound effects (aka second order effects), is deemed by Reynolds et al., (2020) as critical for measures aiming to save time or money for consumers. From an environmental perspective, if the money or time saved (in this case through reduced food waste) is used for less environmentally friendly activities, then the overall improvement may not be realised. From a health perspective, interventions aimed to reduce waste should not inadvertently encourage overconsumption of food, or the consumption of food that may have health implications.

Where possible, Reynolds et al. suggest that these are studied as part of the intervention. However, this will always likely be precluded due to limitations in scope, time and finances and so, in the likely event that this is not possible, the risk of rebound effects should be assessed, and steps should be taken to minimise it.

2.4 Evaluation

Food waste prevention is very difficult to measure accurately. As a result, there has been a lack of quantified information on the efficacy of different intervention types. Several studies have identified intervention evaluation as a key area that needs to be addressed in future work (Tom Quested, 2019; C. Reynolds et al., 2019; Stöckli et al., 2018). Some of the main evaluation methods used to date are explored here. Common methods for evaluation include surveys, self-reporting questionnaires, direct weighing, photographs, journals or diaries.

Evaluations can examine either the process or the outcome of an intervention (Tom Quested, 2019). Outcome evaluations can be further divided to focus on the final outcome (i.e. food waste generation) or on intermediary outcomes (e.g. changes in attitude or behaviours). The use of logic mapping to design the intervention and evaluation will help to guide the selection of evaluation metrics. The final outcome of actual food waste produced should be measured if possible (Quested, 2019).

Stöckli et al. (2018) stated that "interventions should be evaluated in a systematic manner, by using a framework that implements standardized definitions and measurement methods, addresses specific behaviours and behavioural change processes, differentiates between combined interventions (i.e., a campaign as a whole) and isolated interventions, and ensures evaluations of long-term effectiveness". In 2018, Eimelech et al., proposed a new detailed method of household food waste quantification based on direct measurement on a daily basis. This method is discussed as part of waste composition analysis.

Evaluation Methods

Evaluation methods can be described as reactive or non-reactive (Gallo, 1980). Reactive methods rely on direct participation by the person whose waste, or behaviour is being studied. They include surveys or questionnaires and food waste diaries. There is significant potential for the evaluation method to influence behaviour in this form. This is sometimes known as the Hawthorne Effect (Landsberger, 1958), or simply observation bias. Alternatively, non-reactive methods do not involve participation by those being studied. In some cases, they may not even be aware that the study is taking place. These forms of evaluation typically occur outside the home and include direct weighing or photographing. While non-reactive methods reduce the risk of causing influence to the waste habits of participants, there are other drawbacks. They can be more expensive to implement and can miss certain waste streams (e.g. liquids disposed to drain, food fed to animals). In addition, it can be difficult to determine the nature of food waste once it has entered the waste stream. Information on whether food waste avoidable or unavoidable, or even what is consists of, can be inferred when waste is captured at this stage but cannot be deemed with certainty.

As part of Refresh, Quested (2019) outlined key recommendations for evaluating household food waste prevention interventions quantification. He presents guidance under three categories: understand the intervention, develop the evaluation approach and implement and disseminate evaluation findings. In order to understand the intervention, Quested recommends the aforementioned Logic Mapping approach and the distinguishing of factors such as:

- What constitutes food waste?
- Who is the intervention seeking to influence?
- What is the intervention type?
- Is it singular or a bundled intervention?
- Will the intervention involve passive or active participation?

Further to this, Quested (2019) outlines the need for a literature review, and recommends the option of piloting or testing interventions if possible.

There are a range of evaluation options for household food waste prevention. A selection of these methods: diaries, surveys, in-home observation, waste compositional analysis and self-collection through kitchen caddies, were tested and compared by Ven Herpen et al., 2016.

Overall, the accuracy of most of these methods is questionable. In fact, Van Herpen et al. (2016) found that most of the methods they tested underestimated total household food waste. A description of the main evaluation methods, including the advantages and disadvantages to each is provided below. Van Herpen et al. (2019) suggest the following criteria for assessing the effectiveness of an evaluation method:

- Degree to which estimates of food waste are biased
- Effort required by participants/respondents
- Effort required by researcher/practitioner
- Cost
- Ability of the method to provide information about different states of food waste.

Evaluating interventions will often require researchers to gather information on participants. Van Herpen et al., (2016) highlight the need for ethical checks and privacy procedures to be part of measurement protocol.

In terms of timing, Van Herpen et al., (2016) carried out their research on the various methods of evaluation over a two-week period and found significant correlation between the two weeks of data across measurement methods. From this they conclude that a one-week period may be sufficient.

2.4.1 Surveys or Interviews

This reactive method of evaluation involves directly asking participants questions, either in person or over the phone through interviews or using postal or online questionnaires. Surveys are one of the commonly used methods to evaluate food waste interventions or to research the factors/determinants of food waste (van Herpen et al., 2016). Surveys provide an opportunity to measure intermediary outcomes such as changes to attitudes, awareness or

behaviour (Quested, 2019). However, when it comes to quantifying the final intervention outcome of food waste reduction, According to Refresh, surveys were in fact the least reliable method of evaluation (van Herpen et al., 2019).

Surveying people to ask about the amount of food they waste has been found to result in an underrepresentation of actual waste (Giordano et al., 2019). In general, people have a biased view of their own food waste behaviour. For example, in a Greek study 87% of respondents claim they waste little to no food (Abeliotis et al., 2014). In UK survey from 2007, 70% of respondents reported throwing out 'a small amount', 'hardly any' or 'none' (WRAP, 2007). A more recent Irish survey found very similar results with 70% reporting that they only waste "a small amount' or "none" (EPA, 2020). The underreporting of food waste through surveys could be due to a number of factors.

Social desirability bias has been identified as a potential source of the skew. Social desirability bias occurs when participants believe they know what type of answer reflects what they should be doing, or what is socially considered good behaviour. This bias should be considered when designing and interpreting surveys or questionnaires. Care should be taken to avoid presenting the questions with obvious "correct" answer, or answer that clearly "should" be done. If this is the case, social desirability bias may skew results. This is when respondents give answers that they think to be more favourable to others (Nijenhuis-De Vries et al., 2016).

A more straight-forward but important issue with survey is participants' memory. It may be the case that people simply do not remember the food they have wasted. Food waste is typically not a topic that members of the public consciously engage with on a day to day basis and so there is potential for occurrences of waste to be forgotten (Hebrok & Boks, 2017). Van Herpen et al. (2019) found that surveys asking about food waste for the previous week showed high correlation with other methods, although still an under-representation. Using a pre-announcement can improve the reliability of data by making respondents more aware of their waste. This may have concurrent effect on the current level of awareness so should not be carried out in advance of asking survey questions dealing with awareness (Nijenhuis-De Vries et al., 2016). There is potential that a pre-announcement may also alter the behaviour and subsequent food waste of participants. As part of their survey development, Nijenhuis-

De Vries et al. (2016) prepared a table of food quantities that can be used to increase accesssibility and accuracy for respondants. For exampe, measures such as spoonful of vegetables, portion of meat, piece of fruit are given estimate mass in grams for conversion.

Despite their draw backs, surveys offer the advantages that that they are typically a low cost form of evaluation, they can reach large numbers of participants, they typically require low level of effort of respondents, and can be expanded to investigate other relevant factors (van Herpen et al., 2019).

2.4.2 Interviews

Interviews can be used in a similar mode as surveys to measure household food waste. They are considered a suitable method for determining food waste practices and amounts (Moller et al., 2014). Interviews can facilitate commonality in data gathering while also allowing participants to speak more freely (Devaney & Davies, 2017)information more Alternatively, interviews have also been used in loosely ethnographic studies to research factors relating to food waste generation (Evans, 2012). For example, when conducting very detailed investigation on the social and material contexts of food waste, Evans (2012), used "on to go" observation and interview to examine the food waste practices of several households in Manchester, UK. In this case, Evans complimented his approach with further investigations – "diary records, cupboard rummages and fridge inventories".

Interviews can allow a more thorough investigation of household food waste and food waste prevention than other less intensive methods (Hebrok & Heidenstrøm, 2019). However, they necessitate a small sample size which reduces their suitability for gathering data for scaling (Moller et al., 2014).

2.4.3 Food Waste Diaries

Food waste diaries are a relatively common method used to investigate household food waste (Giordano et al., 2019; Katajuuri et al., 2014; Langley et al., 2010; Williams et al., 2012; WRAP 2008; WRAP, 2009). Diaries can be used to record the quantities, types and state of food waste in the home. Respondents can be either asked to provide weights of wasted food (in gram or kilogram) or in other (potentially easier to work with) quantities (e.g., spoonful,

serving). The latter removes the burden of weighing but requires the use of a conversion method by the researchers (such as the table by Nijenhuis-De Vries et al. (2016)).

Regardless of the approach to food waste quantification, the effort involved in keeping a food waste diary is high for participants. Even over a period as short as a week, Langley et al. (2010) found a reduction in enthusiasm by participants. Sharp et al (2010) review quantification methods for waste prevention more generally and concluded that while diaries have been found to be enjoyable for some participants, and an important motivator to behaviour change, the process is arduous for both the participants and research team and therefore can only be carried out in a limited number of households. The effort required to participants, self-selects only willing and able households. The fact that this method facilitates behaviour change may reduce it suitability for pure evaluation purposes

The effort required and so can result in a reduction in participation over time, reducing data quality (Sharp et al., 2010; van Herpen et al., 2019). Another inherent limitation to diaries is that they are mediated by the person who's behaviour is being studied (Giordano et al., 2019). Høj (2011) found that diaries underestimated food waste by 40% when compared to waste composition analysis. Giardano et al. (2019) recommend a combination of diaries and waste sorting (or waste composition analysis) to produce high quality qualitative and quantitative data.

2.4.4 Waste Composition Analysis & Direct Weighing

Waste composition analysis and direct weighing involve the direct measurement of food waste by the research team. Direct weighing typically refers to the measurement of total food waste. Waste composition analysis involves a range of techniques whereby the waste is separated and measured according to waste type. These direct approaches are considered more accurate that those involving self-reporting of food waste (Jorissen et al., 2015; Langley et al., 2010; Lebersorger and Schneider, 2011).

Direct weighing is a good option to gather data on total food waste generated and is less onerous than waste composition analysis. However, the latter can provide more information with classification of the food or waste type, and the state of the material possible. There are

significant difficulties with waste composition analysis, in terms of the inaccurate classification of food waste post-disposal. This is due to factors such as mixing, compaction, degradation and evaporation. These factors need to be considered to allow for accurate and reliable waste composition analysis. A number of studies have been carried out to identify the best methods for waste composition analysis of food waste (Elimelech et al., 2018; Langley et al., 2010; Lebersorger & Schneider, 2011). Dahlén & Lagerkvist (2008) carried out an extensive review of methods for household waste composition analysis (not just food waste) and made recommendations accordingly.

Lebersorger and Schneider (2011) discuss the various classification options for food waste measured using waste composition analysis in terms of avoidability, recyclability (possibly recyclable and non-recyclable), life-cycle stage (preparation residues. leftovers, whole unused food, partly consumed food) and (preparation state (fresh, ready to consumer, cooked or prepared at home) and food category (fruit, veg, drinks, bakery, meat and fish, other). Some of these categories are difficult to use due to the state of the food waste itself or the variances with waste management practices. These classification issues are intensified with degradation of the material. The classification system used by Lebersorger and Schneider (2011) is presented in Table 3.

Table 3. Classification system from Lebersorger and Schneider, 2011

	Avoidability	Life-cycle stage	Packaging
	Non avoidable	Preparation residues	
	Avoidable	leftovers	
		Whole unused item	In original packaging
Food Waste			other
		Part consumed food	In original packaging
			other
		Non-classifiable remainder	

In addition to the classification system they propose, Lebersorger and Schneider make the recommendation to avoid the screening of waste before analysis Several steps have been suggested to address the difficulties of waste composition analyses.

In order to minimise degradation of food waste samples, best practices in waste composition analysis have been suggested by various practitioners.

Sample Unit

Elimelech et al, (2018) recommend that the sample unit for waste composition analysis is one household. This was also the sampling level used by Lebersorger and Schneider, 2011.

Segregation

Once food waste is combined in a container it can be very difficult to accurately re-segregate. Langley et al., (2010) employed a method where participants sorted and weighed food waste themselves, at the point of disposal to ensure fully accurate compositional data. In this case, participants were equipped with a detailed recording sheet (infact 5 sheets per day). Langley et al., (2010) acknowledge the significant burden this lays on the participants and the susceptibility to variation in data quality. They argue that despite these limitations, this is the most accurate method to measure food waste entering the waste stream.

In other work, specific food waste caddies are provided to participants to avoid some of the issues of contamination and compaction that may occur using households own waste infrastructure (van Herpen et al., 2019).

Disposal – analysis gap

Minimising the time between disposal and analysis is recommended to reduce chemical and biological degradation and evaporation. Dahlé & Lagerkvist (2008) recommend a 2-day maximum period between disposal and sorting, while Lebersorger and Schneider (2011) state that this frequency may be impractical in terms of municipal waste collection schedules. They argue that while waste should be sorted as soon as possible, exceeding the 2 day limit is "tolerable". Elimelech et al., (2018) suggest that daily collection and analysis of food waste is necessary to avoid inaccuracies.

While direct weighing and waste composition analysis are considered more accurate than other methods, they still have No one aspect of the food system is entirely responsible for the current levels of waste. the potential to underreport total food waste. For example, it does not include food waste disposed to drain, home composted (van Herpen et al., 2016)fed to animals or disposed of in the incorrect waste stream. Establishing the extent to which these alternate disposal methods take place may improve the accuracy of total food waste estimates. For example, in Irish households, organic non garden waste makes up 13.6% of total municipal solid waste and 2.3% of mixed dry recycling (EPA, 2018). There are no data on food waste disposed to drain or for home composting in Ireland. In the UK, a WRAP study in 2009 using food waste diaries, found that over 1 million tonnes of food waste were being disposed of to drain.

2.4.5 Photographs

Photography can be used as a reactive method of food waste measurement that involves the participants taking photographs of their food waste and sharing these with the researchers. Researchers subsequently code the photographs and estimate the quantities of waste food (van Herpen & van der Lans, 2019). Photographed coding has been successfully used to assess consumed food by comparing photographs of food served and plate waste (Martin et al., 2019). Van Herpen & van der Lans (2019) studied the efficacy of this method for food waste quantification by comparing the estimates of nine coders who were undergraduate students. The coders, who were unaware of the study design, were asked to estimate the weight of food in photographs. These estimates were compared to the actual weight of the food, and to each other. Coders were given some training on the task (but not in coding or weight estimation method) ahead of the activity and were encouraged to find reference weights online if possible. Estimates show high correlation with actual weights and with each other. Coders did not systematically over- or under-estimate weights (van Herpen & van der Lans, 2019). Limitations of this approach, which were not tested by van Herpen & van der Lans, include waste that contain mixed food components (e.g. salads), or food waste in other types of containers. Technology developments allowing for automated photographing systems may provide reliable method of quantification with low burden for participants in the future (van Herpen et al., 2019). Interventions that incorporate automated photography are discussed in section 3.8, Information and Communication Technology Interventions.

2.4.6 Inference

Although not listed in recent best practice guidance (Nijenhuis-De Vries et al., 2016) an inferential mode of quantification has also been used in the past. This involves interviewing or using a diary method for participants to record the total amount of food purchased/brought into the home and the total amount of food wasted. It does not directly mention with food waste therefore it is "nonreactive" and therefore, may have less potential to influence the food wate behaviour or attitudes of participants (Gallo, 1980). Proportional reporting has also been used (Aschemann-Witzel et al., 2017; Graham-Rowe et al., 2015; Stancu et al, 2016; Stefan et al., 2013). With this approach, participants report (through the use of interviews or surveys) the proportion of total food brought into the home that ends up being wasted. Total food waste can be inferred by comparing to some measure of total food acquired.

3. Interventions

In order to inform the latter stages of our research, a review of existing food waste prevention interventions was carried out. This review focused on the scientific literature and grey literature and but also included other online sources. In addition to the underlying principles of best practice, gathered from the literature in the previous section, this section will outline the various types of food waste prevention interventions providing specific examples of each where possible. Included are details on the best practice principles underpinning the works within each of these intervention modes.

People across the world are working to solve the problem of food waste at a household level. Some of these projects or interventions are being carried out by researchers and are being reported in the scientific literature while many more are being carried out by local governments and community organisations. The latter are less commonly represented in the scientific or even grey literature. In order to gather a full picture of existing food waste prevention interventions, a broad online search was carried out in addition to the literature review.

There have been some recent systematic reviews carried out of food waste prevention interventions (Kim et al., 2019; C. Reynolds et al., 2019; Schanes et al., 2018). In 2015, the EU project FUSIONS compiled a list of policies and legislation for all 28 EU member states. These country reports outline national strategy, market-based instruments, regulations, voluntary agreements, technical reports, scientific papers, communications and campaigns, projects and other measures (FUSIONS, 2015). Additionally, STEFOWA an EU Interreg project compiled a profile of all food waste prevention activities for countries in Central Europe (Obersteiner and Schwödt, 2016).

Behaviour change interventions can be categorised into two groups, antecedent or consequence. Antecedent initiatives focus on altering the context preceding the behaviour while consequence interventions focus on the behaviour's consequences. Examples of the former include information provision, prompts, modelling, and commitment while the latter

typically consists of interventions based on feedback, rewards, and penalties (Stöckli, Niklaus, et al., 2018).

A selection of existing food waste prevention interventions is discussed below. Interventions are organised according to type, based on work by Refresh and others (Wunder et al., 2019; Pelt et al., 2020)

These are:

Information

Social influence

Psychology-based

Economic Instruments

Regulations

Nudges and organisation of choice architecture

Voluntary agreements

Strategies and guidance

Information and Communication Technology (ICT)

It is worth noting that there are various ways in which behaviour change techniques or interventions can be arranged. Mitchie et al. 2015 list 93 discrete behaviour change techniques and organise them into 16 groups. However, for the purpose of this research we will focus on nine broad intervention categories listed above.

3.1 Information

Information based interventions have been heavily relied upon in the past and continue to be one of the most common approaches to food waste prevention (Priefer et al., 2016; Stancu et al., 2016; Stöckli, Niklaus, et al., 2018). A recent study found that out of food waste prevention 23 interventions reviewed, 16 were based on the provision of information (Kim et al., 2019).

Of course, if individuals do not have the information, they cannot make decisions about their behaviour based on it (Umpfenbach, 2014). As such there is a critical place for the provision of information in behaviour change. Historical information-based approaches can be broken into two categories: 'attitude-behaviour' and 'economic self-interest'. The 'attitude-behaviour' approach relies on the idea that by providing information, one can first change public attitudes, which in turn leads to changes in behaviour. The economic self-interest approach assumes that individuals will assess the information they are given and make choices that benefit them economically e.g., installing energy efficient appliances at home (McKenzie-Mohr, 2011). These simplistic assumptions fail to recognise the strong influence of many of the social and psychological factors discussed above, a phenomenon sometimes referred to simply as the "intention-behaviour gap" (Wunder et al., 2019).

It is now widely accepted that information-based interventions are not an optimal mechanism for achieving behaviour change — for food waste prevention or other issues relating to environment or consumption (Abrahamse et al., 2005). For example, recent work by Refresh found that awareness of the problem of food waste did not significantly influence waste levels (van Geffen, van Herpen, and van Trijp 2017). In a study that analysed the effect of co-occurring interventions across environmental behaviour, Osbaldiston and Schott (2012) found information-based campaigns to be less successful when compared with cognitive dissonance, goal setting, social modelling and prompts. This has been corroborated by McKenzie-Mohr (2011) who provides numerous examples of the lack of success of information-based only campaign.

There have been several examples of food waste information interventions that have recorded positive results (Reynolds et al., 2019). However, evidence suggests that providing information alone is far from the most efficient way to change behaviour.

That said, information-based campaigns are still widely implemented, especially by government and institutional actors. This is likely due to the fact that they are relatively easy and visible (McKenzie-Mohr, 2011) and that those often contracted to run and manage such campaigns are usually creative or advertising rather than behaviour change experts (McKenzie-Mohr, pers comm).

However, while evidence suggests that purely information-based campaigns are ineffective, the provision of information as part of a wider campaign is still a crucial aspect of behaviour change (McKenzie-Mohr, 2011; Priefer et al., 2016). In terms of the successful attributes of information-based campaigns, Refresh noted some key recommendations to improve information-based campaigns. These include:

- The use of positive messaging
- Focussing on abilities rather than awareness of the issue
- Careful consideration of the narratives used (Wunder et al., 2019)

3.1.1 Awareness

Awareness interventions focus messaging on the relevant problem with the aim of educating people about it, and its importance. According to Priefer et al. (2016) awareness campaigns should be specific to a target audience, should be implemented in close collaboration with retail and the hospitality businesses. Due to the above recommendation to avoid awareness only campaigns these intervention types are not discussed any further.

3.1.2 Prompts

Prompts are messages, either verbal or written that act as a reminder of the target behaviour (Osbaldiston & Schott, 2012). They have been shown to be more effective at achieving behaviour change than purely information-based interventions (Stöckli, Niklaus, et al., 2018). While some other forms of information-based interventions provide *justification* (why-to) prompts provide *instruction* (how-to). Prompts address the fact that for many target behaviours, the simple act of forgetting to do so one of the major barriers to adoption (McKenzie-Mohr, 2011). They have been shown to be an effective element of behaviour change campaigns. McKenzie-Mohr provides guidelines on the effective use of prompts. To be most effective, prompts need to be explicit, noticeable, self-explanatory, close in space and time to the target behaviour and should focus on encouraging positive behaviours rather than discouraging negative actions. In addition to this list, Stöckli et al. (2018) suggest that prompts need to be politely written and work best when the target behaviour is easy to perform.

Prompts have been shown to be effective at reducing food waste in self-serve dining facilities (Stöckli, Dorn, et al., 2018).(Whitehair et al., 2013) (Kallbekken and Sælen, 2013) In a household settling, sticker prompts have been shown to cause a significant increase in food waste segregation (Shearer et al., 2016).

3.1.3 Skills

Information based intervention can be successful when they focus on skills and abilities. Similar to prompts, skill-based interventions focus on instruction rather than justification. This aligns with the idea from the Theory of Planned Behaviour that perceived behavioural control can be an important determinant of behaviour change. If individuals perceive themselves to be able to solve or have control over a certain issue or problem, they are more likely to intend to change their behaviour to try to deal with it (Graham-Rowe et al., 2015).

Van der Werf et al. (2020) applied the Theory of Planned behaviour to an information-based campaign in Ontario Canada. Using randomise control testing, and waste composition analysis, the team recorded a 30% decrease in the level of avoidable food waste using this approach.

The intervention was multi-facetted. It included the provision of information and tools through a food waste pack. Messaging was focused on saving money and information centred on individuals perceived behavioural control of food waste. Test households were given a food waste pack containing an explanatory letter, a postcard and fridge magnet with key messages, freezer stickers and shopping list notepad. All materials included directions to the intervention website with further information. Participants were also sent 5 emails during the study period, which lasted 2 weeks.

3.2 Social influence

Work throughout the fields of behaviour change and sociology shows that social influence has the capacity to change behaviour. While Wunder et al., (2019) include social norms as a

sub-category of information interventions, in this work we aim to explore social influence in a broader content and therefore have separated it into a category of its own. There are several forms intervention based on social influence. (Abrahamse & Steg, 2013) split these into six categories:

- Social norms in information and feedback provision
- Block leaders and social networks
- Public commitment making
- Modelling
- Social comparison in feedback provisioning

3.2.1 Social Norms

Social norms are "rules and standards that are understood by member of a group, and that guide or constrain social behaviour without the force of law" (Cialdini & Trost, 1998). They are considered a crucial aspect of behaviour change, particularly that of populations (Reynolds et al., 2015). Refresh identified descriptive social norms to be the most important determinants of consumer food waste (Van Geffen et al., 2016).

There are various categories of social norms that exist at both a collective and individual level (Lapinski & Rimal, 2005). These include injunctive³, descriptive⁴, collective⁵ and perceived⁶ norms.

There are three identified sources of information for social norms. These are observable behaviour, direct and indirect communication, and knowledge of oneself (Miller & Prentice, 1996). In order for social norms to change, they need to therefore be either observable or directly communicated. Observable social norms tend to be more readily adopted by a

³ Injunctive norms are those which deal with morality. They provide information on behaviours that are approved or disapproved of (Cialdini, 2003).

⁴ Descriptive norms are those which can be observed. They provide information about what is typically done

⁵ Collective norms are those which are held and maintained by a group of people are develop over time through convergence of behaviour (Bettenhausen & Murnighan, 1985)

⁶ Perceived norms are an individual's interpretation of collective norms. Due to the unspoken nature of social norms, there may be significance variation between perceived and collective norms (Lapinski & Rimal, 2005). Overtime, these can become internalised or personal norms.

population (Lapinski & Rimal, 20050. In order to use social norms for food waste interventions, situations could be created where the desired food waste prevention behaviour is observable. Alternatively, norms based on direct and indirect communication or knowledge of oneself could be used. It may be possible to use descriptive norms within tighter social groups like families and close friends, where food management behaviours are observed within the home by others.

Injunctive norms are what people believe 'ought to be done' and therefore are relevant to food waste. Unlike descriptive norms, which provide information on how present a behaviour is, injunctive norms deal with the morality or appropriateness of a behaviour. In their PhD thesis, Liu (2017) examined the effect of culture on injunctive social norms and food waste. This work used mock social media posts, with varying messaging and apparent user engagement (by generating comments, thumbs ups and thumbs down reactions to the post). representing different levels of perceived injunctive norms. The work was carried out in the USA, classed as having low context (loose) culture and China, with a high context (tight) culture. Communication typically tends to be more direct in low context cultures than in high with less reliance on perceived meanings or values. Liu found that people who perceived their culture to be tighter were more influenced by the effects of injunctive norms.

The potential of a social norm to influence behaviour is dependent on the group or setting. But people have been shown to want to reduce their waste if they know that their social group is doing so (Van Geffen et al., 2017)

3.2.2 Block leaders and social networks

Diffusion of innovation theory (Rogers, 1995) posits that social networks are crucial to the spread of information. Block leaders can be explained as volunteers who share information amongst their peers. This approach is underpinned by the supposition that information sharing is more effective when messages are relayed by members of a shared social network to one another (rather than by someone outside of that social network). Many food waste interventions have used approaches rooted in this theoretical basis where block leaders and

their social networks have been targeted in different ways in order to change food waste behaviours in particular social groups. Some of these approaches include food sharing and skill sharing among social networks. Community fridges are a commonly applied mechanisms used for this approach.

Food Sharing:

Literature on collaborative consumption (e.g. (Albinsson & Perera, 2012; Belk, 2010; Botsman & Rogers, 2010) acknowledges collaborative consumption as peer-led activities involving procuring, offering, or sharing the access to goods and services through the use of information and communications technologies (ICTs), including trading, swapping, lending and rental. Food sharing has been considered a potential mechanism for food waste prevention at a community level. The SHARECITY100 Database, an output from a European funded research project, identifies 3,644 food sharing initiatives all over the world (Davies, 2016). This includes 47 initiatives in Dublin. Another output from the Share City project is a free online toolkit which can be used to generate a sustainability impact assessment regarding any food sharing initiative.

Community Fridge

Generally, a community fridge (sometimes also referred to as a public fridge, a solidarity fridge or honesty fridge) is a central space where local people (individuals and businesses) can give or take surplus food. In the UK, the Community Fridge Network (CFN) is coordinated by the environmental charity Hubbub. The CFN was first established in 2017 and now the network is made up of 110 active locations. Hubbub (2020) reports that between November 2019 and October 2020, over 2,000 tonnes of surplus food were redistributed to over 150,000 unique visitors at these locations. Hubbub identify that the main aim of the network is to support peer-to-peer learning and resilience. Food waste impacts of the community fridges as identified by Hubbub include: a reduction in household food waste as people are enabled to donate food via the fridge and a reduction in household food waste as people have benefited from food saving advice and recipes at the fridges. In the case of this network, 95% of the donated foodstuffs are given by businesses with the remainder emanating from domestic donations. Hubbub has a redistribution arrangement with seven major retailers.

Hubbub (2018) has published a 'How To' Guide and provides each member of the Community Fridge Network with a Resource Pack.

3.2.3 Public commitment making

Public commitments have been shown to be an effective engagement approach. When an individual makes a public commitment, they are more likely to carry out a behaviour than otherwise. This is due to our aversion to behaving inconsistently. By making a commitment to a cause or action, we very slightly redefine our understanding of ourselves as someone who is committed to this topic. Therefore, to some degree we will try to avoid behaviours that contradict this belief ((McKenzie-Mohr, 2011).

Public commitment around food waste prevention has been widely adopted at the government and large business level. The SDG 12.3, the Courtauld Commitment (WRAP, 2020) and the Food Waste Charter for Ireland⁷. This approach has been used in some instances with individuals. Examples of these include Stop Food Waste Day (INT)⁸, Feedback (UK)⁹ Earth Overshoot Day (INT), Waste Reduction Week Canada¹⁰, Small Action Big Impact (UK)¹¹ and FoodWise (AUS)¹².

Self-perception theory plays a role in the efficacy of pledges. Individuals build their idea of themselves by observing their own behaviour and the circumstances of their behaviour (Bem, 1972). Research shows that is people make a commitment to something, particularly if this commitment is public, they are more likely to carry out the behaviour in question (McKenzie-Mohr, 2011).

3.2.4 Modelling

Modelling is a form of behaviour change intervention that that involves the demonstration of the desired behaviour or the clear indication that the person presenting the information

⁷ https://foodwastecharter.ie/

⁸ https://www.stopfoodwasteday.com/en/index.html

⁹ https://feedbackglobal.org/join-movement/

¹⁰ https://wrwcanada.com/en/food-waste-pledge

¹¹ https://www.smallactionbigimpact.com/december-pledge

¹² http://www.foodwise.com.au/about-foodwise/sign-up-to-be-foodwise/

engages in the behaviour themselves (Osbaldiston & Schott, 2012). Modelling behaviours can include activities such as the publication of online videos (Quested, 2109), or the hosting of cooking demonstrations etc. It can also involve a more peer-to-peer diffusion of information(McKenzie-Mohr, 2011). Modelling builds on many of the concepts behind social networks and block leaders but as an approach it specifies the demonstration of the desired behaviour. The person delivering the information or modelling the behaviour can be an important factor for modelling and block leaders. People typically are more willing to engage with those they like and are more likely to comply with a request if they deem themselves similar to the person requesting (Burger et al., 2004; Cialdini & Goldstein, 2004).

Online videos and cooking demonstrations have been commonly applied to food waste prevention in Ireland and abroad. However, found no reported or evaluated intervention of this nature.

3.2.5 Comparative feedback & competition

The use of competition or comparative feedback involves providing individuals with information on their own performance but also that of others relative to them. This builds on people's tendency to compare themselves to others to help make sense of their own opinions and behaviours. It has been shown to encourage people to engage in sustainable behaviours, especially when the feedback is about people who are similar (Abrahamse & Steg, 2013). This approach was used as part of a Dutch intervention in 2012, called FoodBattle. This intervention involved a collaboration with a supermarket, and combined an event, the provision of information and tools as well as the use of a food waste diary. Participants were provided with a box with information, storage and portioning aids, they were invited to participate online through surveys (before and after) and online games. The intervention involved a competition between three districts and the use of local champions. The effect of tis intervention was measured using both surveys and direct waste sorting. In total, 62 households fully participated in the intervention. ON average, these households reduced food waste by 20% during the three-week period (Nieuwenkamp, 2013). The research intervention called BinCam also used comparison/competition as an aspect of their intervention. Households' recycling and food waste performance was tracked on a league table. .

3.3 Psychology

Psychology based interventions are most commonly designed using the Theory of Planned Behaviour as a framework (Pelt et al., 2020). Of course, there is overlap between psychology- and sociology-based intervention, the difference remains that the former focus on the individual. The key example of a psychology-based intervention for food waste prevention used cognitive dissonance.

3.3.1 Dissonance based

(Pelt et al., 2020) carried out 3 experimental interventions in France in late 2014 in order to compare the effectiveness of an information-based intervention, awareness raising intervention and a dissonance-based intervention. They applied quantitative evaluation through waste composition analysis, before, 1 week and 5 weeks post intervention.

The information-based sample were given leaflets providing advice on how to reduce food waste. In order to raise awareness, this sample was asked to keep a food waste diary for one week. The dissonance-based intervention aimed to use cognitive dissonance and induced hypocrisy to trigger behaviour change. In order to do this, subjects are facilitated or encouraged to "preach" about food waste prevention followed by a prompt to recall their own behaviour. The idea being that they will identify the gap between their normative beliefs and their past-transgressive behaviours. In this case, this was done on paper, by asking participants to fill in a form about how food waste can be reduced, and to include their name age and city of residence. This form was followed by a private survey where they were asked to recall the detail of food thrown out in the last 2 weeks. Finally, participants in this group were given an intention implementation plan and an informative leaflet.

(Pelt et al., 2020) found that the dissonance-based intervention was more effective than the information-based intervention in the medium term (5 weeks). The awareness intervention using a food waste diary did not result in significant changes to food waste, contrary to proposal by (Visschers et al., 2016).

3.4 Economic Instruments

Economic instruments are a tool that can shift food consumption practices towards more sustainable alternatives (Reisch et al. 2013; Schanes et al., 2018). They have been applied infrequently to deal with food waste. In Italy, tax incentives were introduced to encourage food donation. The French have been using penalties for supermarkets that do not redistribute surplus food (LOI no 2016-138). There are no well-known examples of economic instruments used at a regional or national scale to address consumer food waste. Currently, too little is known about the effectiveness of taxes and fees on food waste prevention (Schanes et al., 2018).

At an individual business level, a small number of restaurants have implemented payment models where customers pay extra for any food left on their plate. Examples on this include Asian restaurants in New York, London and Stuttgart¹³¹⁴ and a buffet in Switzerland¹⁵. Coverage of these policies is limited to newspaper and magazine articles and there is little evidence to their effect.

Altering pricing for waste disposal is an economic or regulatory option that may influence food waste generation. However, from a waste enforcement point of view, increased disposal costs have the potential to encourage incorrect segregation, illegal dumping and back-yard burning. In Ireland, waste disposal costs are currently designed to incentivise segregation, with food waste streams often being the same cost or cheaper than mixed waste.

The relative cost of food is believed to play a role in the levels of food waste at a consumer level (Evans, 2012). It is hypothesised that an increase in the cost of food would lead to a decrease in the level of waste. According to Wunder et la., (2019), the internalised external cost of food is not represented in the price we pay i.e., current food prices do not account for the actual environmental or human cost of food production.

 $^{^{13}\} https://www.good.is/articles/could-charging-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-for-uneaten-food-in-restaurants-help-us-stop-wasting-people-food-i$

¹⁴ https://www.thelocal.de/20160816/eat-up-or-pay-up-why-guests-are-charged-for-leftovers

¹⁵ https://www.thedailymeal.com/swiss-restaurant-charges-customers-unfinished-food/51014

3.5 Regulations

Food waste prevention regulations have been implemented in the commercial and processing sectors. However, none have been introduced that focus on consumer food waste to date Regulations that have the potential to impact consumer food waste include those regarding food date labelling, prohibition of certain practices (e.g., buy-one-get-one-free promotions), packaging requirements and consumer education. For the most part, these regulations are directed at the manufacturing and retail sectors, while the intended impact is at consumer level food waste (Wunder et al., 2019).

During this review, we found no evidence of any food waste prevention specific regulations being implemented. Where food waste specific regulations have been introduced, they have typically dealt with the segregation and management of food waste.

For example, in 2015 the European Union (Household Food Waste and Bio-waste) Regulations was introduced to Ireland. This built on the commercial food waste regulations introduced in 2009. These regulations were in line with the Waste Framework Directive and made it a requirement to segregation food waste for disposal at a household level. This regulation was introduced first to large population centres and then over time down to areas of population of 500 or more. This regulation focuses solely on food waste segregation. However, many actors in food waste management suggest that the process of segregating waste can lead to food waste prevention through improved awareness and visibility of the food waste within a household (Reynolds et al., 2019).

3.6 Nudges and the organisation of choice architecture

Nudging is a process of changing behaviour that does not involve coercion. Rather than convincing people to consciously change how they behave, nudging using automatic cognitive processes to achieve the desired behavioural outcome (Sunstein & Thaler, 2008; Wunder et al., 2019).

As of yet, there is very little published work of the effectiveness of nudges in household food waste prevention. Von Kamake and Fischer (2018) explored consumer perceptions on the topic but did not apply any nudges or measure behaviour change.

Nudges have been shown to be successful in preventing consumer level food waste in food service settings. For example, several studied have found that a reduction in the size of the plate used in self-service dining can significantly reduce food waste (Kallbekken and Sælen, 2013; Richardson et al., 2020). Research has also been conducted in school settings, exploring the effectiveness of nudges with children who are provided with school lunches. In these instances, nudges are implemented in the form of signs, verbal cues by staff and were paired with some skill sharing with the children, for example on how to peel fruit (Vidal-Mones et al., 2019). Nudges have also been successfully implemented to encourage the uptake of 'doggy-bags' or the practice of taking leftovers home after a meal in a restaurant (Nudge Unit Greece, 2017). In the household setting, nudging (through the provision of food waste caddies) has also shown to be effective for improving food waste segregation (Regional Waste Management Offices, 2020; Zhang and Wang, 2020).

Nudging is discussed in more detail in the accompanying report "Review of relevant consumer behaviour change studies and initiatives".

3.7 Voluntary agreements, strategies and guidance

Voluntary agreements were identified by early Refresh work as one of three core areas of food waste prevention warranting further research (the others being consumer behaviour and food surplus valorisation). The coalition, started by defining voluntary agreements within the context of food waste:

Voluntary Agreements (VAs) are self-determined commitments or pacts with qualitative and quantitative objectives, developed by private entities and/or other stakeholders in consultation with their signatories. They are used as alternative courses of action to

traditional legislation, can be piloted by government officials, businesses or other actors, and can be used in addition to, or independently from existing legislation.

According to Refresh, the flexible and collaborative nature of voluntary agreements make them very effective tools for food waste prevention in the supply chain. However, there is no discussion of their application with consumers, other than the potential of consumer recognition for food businesses (Burgos et al., 2019).

There are numerous examples of Voluntary agreements in the food manufacturing, retail and service sectors. In Ireland, the Food Waste Charter was launched in 2017 as a voluntary agreement for the entire food supply chain. The Courtauld Commitment in the UK is a key example of the potential of voluntary agreements to achieve food waste reductions.

At a consumer level, many organisations have implemented voluntary agreements through pledges and public commitments (see section 3.2.1).

3.8 Information and Communication Technology (ICT)

The use of information and communication technology is increasing being incorporated into all of the intervention types previously discussed. The integration of technology into food waste prevention is broadening the scope of interventions and creating the opportunity to lessen the burden of participation. To date, ICT interventions have focused on both household food infrastructure and also on relevant food behaviours. They have worked to assist people in the activities of meal preparation, food shopping and the use of food already in the home. In some instances, these technologies act as prompts, in others they allow skill sharing or the provision of information. Some examples of ICT interventions include Fridge Cams, interactive fridges, meal planning apps and online social networking for food waste.

Nyugen et al, (2015) designed a prototype interactive fridge that performed three functions: stickers to help group food, sliders with colour coding to indicate food state and an LCD screen to provide graphic and sound feedback. They found that the prototype was successful in changing behaviours around food grouping and awareness of the availability of food.

Soma et al., (2020) trialled three food waste prevention interventions in Toronto, Canada, including one that involved ICT through online gamification. The first intervention was a passive information intervention (distribution of booklet and sticker prompt). The second was and a community engagement intervention (information combined with workshops provided by Love Food Hate Waste). The gamification intervention involved the use of an online quiz on food waste with the information. A fourth control group was also studied. Soma et al. (2020) evaluated the interventions using before and after waste audits and surveys and a focus group after the interventions. They found a marginally significant reduction in food waste with the gamification group compared with the control group. No differences were detected in the other groups. Participation in the intervention was also measured and the passive group and gamification group experiences similarly high participation while the community engagement group had very low participation.

4. Conclusions

In order for widespread behaviour change to occur, food waste interventions must be developed that can achieve effective and long-term behaviour change through economically viable means. To this end, interventions which draw from contemporary interdisciplinary knowledge and are carefully designed in a manner in which they can be reliably evaluated and improved will be most effective.

References

- Abeliotis, K., Lasaridi, K., & Chroni, C. (2014). Attitudes and behaviour of Greek households regarding food waste prevention. *Waste Management & Research*, 32,237e240.
- Abrahamse, W., Steg, L., Vlek, C., & Rothengatter, T. (2005). A review of intervention studies aimed at household energy conservation. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 25, 273-291
- Abrahamse, W., & Steg, L. (2013). Social influence approaches to encourage resource conservation: A meta-analysis. *Global Environmental Change*, 23(6), 1773–1785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013.07.029
- Albinsson, P.A., & Perera, B.Y. (2012). Alternative marketplaces in the 21st century: Building community through sharing events. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 11(4), p. 303–315.
- Belk, R. (2010). Sharing. Journal of Consumer Research, 36(5), p. 715–734.
- Bem, A.J. (1972). Self-perception Theory. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 6
- Botsman, R., & Rogers, R. (2010). Beyond Zipcar: Collaborative consumption. *Harvard Business Review*, 88(10), p. 30.
- Burger J.M., Messian N., Patel S., del Prado A., Anderson C. (2004) What a coincidence! The effects of incidental similarity on compliance. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 30(1), 35-43
- Champions 12.3 (2020). SDG Target 12.3 on Food Loss and Waste: 2019 Progress Report. Available from: https://champions123.org/sites/default/files/2020-09/champions-12-3-2019-progress-report.pdf [Accessed 15 Jan 2020]
- Cialdini, R. B. (2003). Crafting normative messages to protect the environment. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 12, 105–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.01242
- Cialdini, R. B., & Trost, M. R. 1998. Social influence: Social norms, conformity, and compliance. In D. T. Gilbert, S. T.Fiske, & G. Lindzey (Eds.), The handbook of social psychology, Vol. 2: 151–192. Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- Cialdini R.B., Goldstein N.J. (2004). Social influence: compliance and conformity. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 55, 591-621
- Burgos, S., Colin, F., Graf, V., & Mahon, P. (2019). Voluntary Agreements as a collaborative solution for food waste reduction.
- Davidz H.L., Nightingale D.J., (2007). Enabling systems thinking to accelerate the development of senior engineers. Systems Engineering, 11, 1.

- Dahlén, L., & Lagerkvist, A. (2008). Methods for household waste composition studies. *Waste Management*, 28(7), 1100–1112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2007.08.014
- Davies, A.R. et al. (2016) SHARECITY100 Database, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland. Retrieved from: https://sharecity.ie/research/sharecity100-database/
- Davies, A., Fahy, F., Rau, H., Devaney, L., Doyle, R., Lavelle, M. J., & Manton, R. (2017). CONSENSUS II: Segmentation, Experimentation and Biographies for Sustainability (Issue 205).
- DCCAE (2019). Climate Action Plan 2019: to tackle climate breakdown.
- Devaney, L., & Davies, A. R. (2017). Disrupting household food consumption through experimental HomeLabs: Outcomes, connections, contexts. *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 17(3), 823–844. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540516631153
- DeVault, M. L. (1994). Feeding the family: The social organization of caring as gendered work. University of Chicago Press.
- Edwards, F. (2020). Overcoming the social stigma of consuming food waste by dining at the Open Table. Agriculture and Human Values. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-020-10176-9
- Elimelech, E., Ayalon, O., & Ert, E. (2018). What gets measured gets managed: A new method of measuring household food waste. *Waste Management*, 76, 68–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2018.03.031
- EPA (2020a). National Waste Prevention Programme Annual Report 2019. Available from: http://www.epa.ie/pubs/reports/waste/prevention/reports/EPA NWPP 2019 Annual Report.p http://www.epa.ie/pubs/reports/waste/prevention/reports/EPA NWPP 2019 Annual Report.p http://www.epa.ie/pubs/reports/waste/prevention/reports/EPA NWPP 2019 Annual Report.p http://www.epa.ie/pubs/reports/waste/prevention/reports/EPA NWPP 2019 Annual Report.p
- EPA (2020b). Food Waste Attitudes Survey. Carried by Behaviour and Attitudes on Behalf of the EPA.
- European Commission (2018). "Market Study on Date Marking and Other Information Provided on Food Labels and Food Waste Prevention. Written by ICF in Association with Anthesis, Brook Lyndhurst, and WRAP. January 2018." https://publications.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/e7be006f-0d55-11e8-966a-01aa75ed71a1/language-en.
- Evans, D. (2012). Beyond the Throwaway Society: Ordinary Domestic Practice and a Sociological Approach to Household Food Waste. *Sociology*, 46(1), 41–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038511416150
- FLW Protocol (2015). FLW Protocol Accounting and Reporting Standard (FLW Standard). Appendix A.

- FUSIONS (2015). Review of current EU Member States legislation and policies addressing food waste. Report of the project FUSIONS for the European Commission.
- Gallo, A. E. (1980). Consumer food waste in the United States. *National Food Reviews*, 12,13e16.
- Giordano, C., Alboni, F., & Falasconi, L. (2019). Quantities, determinants, and awareness of households' food waste in Italy: A comparison between diary and questionnaires quantities. Sustainability (Switzerland), 11(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/su10023381
- Government of Ireland (2020). Waste Action Plan for a Circular Economy. Available from: https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/4221c-waste-action-plan-for-a-circular-economy/ [Accessed 5 Jan 2020]
- Graham-Rowe, E., Jessop, D. C., & Sparks, P. (2014). Identifying motivations and barriers to minimising household food waste. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 84, 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2013.12.005
- Graham-Rowe, E., Jessop, D. C., & Sparks, P. (2015). Predicting household food waste reduction using an extended theory of planned behaviour. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 101, 194–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2015.05.020
- Hawkins P. (2017). The Drawdown Project: The Most Comprehensive Plan Ever Proposed to Reverse Global Warming. Penguin Books, New York
- Halloran, A., Clement, J., Kornum, N., Bucatariu, C., & Magid, J. (2014). Addressing food waste reduction in Denmark. *Food Policy*, 49(P1), 294–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.09.005
- Hargreaves, T. (2011). Practice-ing behaviour change: Applying social practice theory to proenvironmental behaviour change. *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 11(1), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540510390500
- Hebrok, M., & Boks, C. (2017). Household food waste: Drivers and potential intervention points for design An extensive review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 151, 380–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.069
- Hebrok, M., & Heidenstrøm, N. (2019). Contextualising food waste prevention Decisive moments within everyday practices. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 210, 1435–1448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.11.141
- Hubbub (2018) Community Fridge 'How To' Guide, London: Hubbub. Available at: https://issuu.com/hubbubuk/docs/print ready community fridge how to
- Hubbub (2020) Community Fridge Network Impact Report 2020, London: Hubbub. Available at: https://issuu.com/hubbubuk/docs/cfn_impact_report_2020

- Kallbekken, S., Sælen, H. (2013). 'Nudging' hotel guests to reduce food waste as a win—win environmental measure, *Economics Letters*, Volume 119, Issue 3, Pages 325-327, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2013.03.019
- Kim, J., Rundle-Thiele, S., & Knox, K. (2019). Systematic literature review of best practice in food waste reduction programs. *Journal of Social Marketing*, 9(4), 447–466. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSOCM-05-2019-0074
- Landsberger, H. A. (1958). Hawthorne Revisited. Ithaca. OCLC 61637839
- Langley, J., Yoxall, A., Heppell, G., Rodriguez, E. M., Bradbury, S., Lewis, R., Luxmoore, J., Hodzic, A., & Rowson, J. (2010). Food for Thought? A UK pilot study testing a methodology for compositional domestic food waste analysis. *Waste Management and Research*, 28(3), 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X08095348
- Lapinski, M.K. and Rimal, R.N. (2005), An Explication of Social Norms. *Communication Theory*, 15: 127-147. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2005.tb00329.x
- Lazell, J. (2016) Consumer food waste behaviour in universities: Sharing as a means of Prevention, Journal of Consumer Behaviour, 15: p. 430–439.
- Lebersorger, S., & Schneider, F. (2011). Discussion on the methodology for determining food waste in household waste composition studies. *Waste Management*, 31(9–10), 1924–1933. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2011.05.023
- LOI no 2016-138 du 11 février 2016 relative à la lutte contre le gaspillage alimentaire. Available from: https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/eli/loi/2016/2/11/AGRX1531165L/jo/texte [Accessed 23 Nov 2018]
- Martin, C. K., Han, H., Coulon, S. M., Allen, H. R., Champagne, C. M., & Anton, S. D. (2009). A novel method to remotely measure food intake of free-living individuals in real time: The remote food photography method. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 101(3), 446–456. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114508027438
- McKenzie-Mohr, D. (2011). Fostering Sustainable Behaviour (3rd ed., Vol. 1). New Society Publishers.
- Miller, D. T., & Prentice, D. A. (1996). The construction of social norms and standards. In E. T. Higgins & A. W. Kruglanski (Eds.), *Social psychology: Handbook of basic principles* (pp. 799–829). New York, NY: Guilford Press
- Moller, H., Hanssen, O.J., Gustavsson, J., Östergren, K., Stenmarck, Å., Dekhtyar, P., (2014). Report on review of (food) waste reporting methodology and practice. Report from FUSIONS Project. Ostfold Research, Norway. ISBN 82-7520-713-4 978-82-7520-713-3.
- Møller H., Hanssen O. J., Svanes E., Hartikainen H., Silvennoinen K., Gustavsson J. et al., (2014). Standard approach on quantitative techniques to be used to estimate food waste level. Report of the project FUSIONS for the European Commission, Stockholm

- Neubig, C. M., Vranken, L., Roosen, J., Grasso, S., Hieke, S., Knoepfle, S., Macready, A. L., & Masento, N. A. (2020). Action-related information trumps system information: Influencing consumers' intention to reduce food waste. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.121126
- Nieuwenkamp, M. K. (2013). Food Battle Reductie milieudruk voedselverspilling. Rijkswaterstaat/Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management. https://www.afvalcirculair.nl/onderwerpen/helpdesk-afvalbeheer/publicaties/downloads-0/foodbattle-reductie/
- Nijenhuis-De Vries, M., Food, W., Research, B., Holthuysen, N., Kremer, S., Bos-Brouwers, H., Van Trijp, H., Quested, T., & Van Geffen, L. (2016). Best practice measurement of household level food waste. EU Horizon 2020 REFRESH., 2.
- Obersteiner O., (2016). DEFINITION OF BEST PRACTICE ACTIVITIES IN FOOD WASTE PREVENTION AND MANAGEMENT. A report for the Interreg project STREFOWA. Version 1.
- O' Brien, M. (2013) A 'lasting transformation' of capitalist surplus: From food stocks to feedstocks. In: Evans, D., Campbell, H. And Murcott, A. (ed.s) (2013) Waste Matters: new perspectives on food and society Sociological Review Monograph, Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- O' Brien, M. (2013) A 'lasting transformation' of capitalist surplus: From food stocks to feedstocks. In: Evans, D., Campbell, H. And Murcott, A. (ed.s) (2013) Waste Matters: new perspectives on food and society Sociological Review Monograph, Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Osbaldiston, R., & Schott, J. P. (2012). Environmental sustainability and behavioral science: Metaanalysis of proenvironmental behavior experiments. *Environment and Behavior*, 44(2), 257–299. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916511402673
- Östergren K., Gustavsson J., Bod-Brouwers H., Timmermans T., Hansen O.J., Møller H., Anderson G., O"cCOnnor C., Soethoudt H., Quested T., Easteal S., Politano A., Bellettato C., Canali M., Falasconi F., Gaiani S., Vittuari M., Schneider F., Moates G., Waldron K & Redlingshöfer (2014). FUSIONS Definitional Frameworks for Food Waste. Report of the project FUSIONS for the European Commission.
- Pelt, A., Saint-Bauzel, R., Barbier, L., & Fointiat, V. (2020). Food waste: Disapproving, but still doing. An evidence-based intervention to reduce waste at household. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 162, 105059. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.105059
- Priefer, C., Jörissen, J., & Bräutigam, K. R. (2016). Food waste prevention in Europe A cause-driven approach to identify the most relevant leverage points for action. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 109, 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.03.004

- Quested, T., Marsh, E., Stunell, D., & Parry, A. D. (2013). Spaghetti soup: The complex world of food waste behaviours. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 79, 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2013.04.011
- Quested, T. (2019). Guidance for evaluating interventions preventing household food waste (Issue 641933).
- Richardson, R., Pflugh Prescott, M., Ellison, B. (2020). Impact of plate shape and size on individual food waste in a university dining hall. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 105293, ISSN 0921-3449, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.105293.
- Regional Waste Management Offices (2020). The Dublin Apartments Brown Bin Project. A report for the project TRiFOCAL.
- Rogers, E.M. (1995) Diffusion of Innovations, 4th Edition. The Free Press: New York.
- Reynolds, C., Goucher, L., Quested, T., Bromley, S., Gillick, S., Wells, V. K., Evans, D., Koh, L., Carlsson Kanyama, A., Katzeff, C., Svenfelt, Å., & Jackson, P. (2019). Review: Consumption-stage food waste reduction interventions What works and how to design better interventions. *Food Policy*, 83(April 2018), 7–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2019.01.009
- Reynolds, K. J., Subašić, E., & Tindall, K. (2015). The problem of behaviour change: From social norms to an ingroup focus. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 9(1), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12155
- Russell, S. V., Young, C. W., Unsworth, K. L., & Robinson, C. (2017). Bringing habits and emotions into food waste behaviour. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 125(June), 107–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.06.007
- Sanneh, E. S. (2018). Systems thinking for sustainable development. Switzerland: Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-70585-9 7.
- Schanes, K., Dobernig, K., & Gözet, B. (2018). Food waste matters A systematic review of household food waste practices and their policy implications. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 182, 978–991. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.02.030
- Schmidt, K. (2019). Predicting the consumption of expired food by an extended Theory of Planned Behavior. *Food Quality and Preference*, 78(January), 103746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2019.103746
- Sharp, V., Giorgi, S., & Wilson, D. C. (2010). Methods to monitor and evaluate household waste prevention. *Waste Management and Research*, 28(3), 269–280. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X10361508
- Shearer, Linzi & Gatersleben, Birgitta & Morse, Stephen & Smyth, Matthew & Hunt, Sally. (2016).

 A problem unstuck? Evaluating the effectiveness of sticker prompts for encouraging

- household food waste recycling behaviour. *Waste Management*. 60. 10.1016/j.wasman.2016.09.036.
- Stancu, V., Haugaard, P., & Lähteenmäki, L. (2016). Determinants of consumer food waste behaviour: Two routes to food waste. *Appetite*, 96, 7–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.08.025
- Stefan, V., van Herpen, E., Tudoran, A. A., & Lähteenmäki, L. (2013). Avoiding food waste by Romanian consumers: The importance of planning and shopping routines. *Food Quality and Preference*, 28(1), 375–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2012.11.001
- Stenmarck Å, Jensen C., Quested T., Moates G., (2016). Estimates of European Food Waste Levels. Report of the project FUSIONS for the European Commission, Stockholm
- Stern P (2000). Toward a coherent theory of environmentally significant behavior. *Journal of Social Issues* 56: 407–24
- Stöckli, S., Dorn, M., & Liechti, S. (2018). Normative prompts reduce consumer food waste in restaurants. *Waste Management*, 77(May), 532–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2018.04.047
- Stöckli, S., Niklaus, E., & Dorn, M. (2018). Call for testing interventions to prevent consumer food waste. Resources, *Conservation and Recycling*, 136(June), 445–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2018.03.029
- Tostivint C., Östergren K., Quested T., Soethoud, H., Stenmarck Å., Svanes E. and O'Connor C. (2016). Food waste quantification manual to monitor food waste amounts and progression. Report of the project FUSIONS for the European Commission. BIO by Deloitte, Neuilly-sur-Seine
- TRIFOCAL. (2020). Transforming City Food Habits for Life: Summary Report. Transforming City Food HAbits for Life. http://trifocal.eu.com/
- Umpfenbach, K. (2014). Influences on consumer behaviour Policy implications beyond nudging Katharina Umpfenbach and colleagues. April.
- van der Werf, P., Seabrook, J. A., & Gilliland, J. A. (2020). Food for thought: Comparing self-reported versus curbside measurements of household food wasting behavior and the predictive capacity of behavioral determinants. *Waste Management*, 101, 18–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2019.09.032
- Van Geffen, L., Van Herpen, E., & Van Trijp, H. (2016). Causes & Determinants of Consumers Food Waste. Eurefresh.Org, 20, 26. https://eu-refresh.org/causes-determinants-consumers-foodwaste

- Van Geffen, L., Van Herpen, E., & Van Trijp, H. (2017). Quantified consumer insights on food waste Pan-European research for quantified consumer food waste understanding. REFRESH. https://eu-refresh.org/quantified-consumer-insights-food-waste.
- Van Herpen, E., & van der Lans, I. (2019). A picture says it all? The validity of photograph coding to assess household food waste. Food Quality and Preference, 75(February), 71–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2019.02.006
- Van Herpen, E., van der Lans, I. A., Holthuysen, N., Nijenhuis-de Vries, M., & Quested, T. E. (2019). Comparing wasted apples and oranges: An assessment of methods to measure household food waste. *Waste Management*, 88, 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2019.03.013
- Van Herpen, E., van der Lans, I., Nijenhuis-de Vries, M., Holthuysen, N., Kremer, S., & Stijnen, D. (2016). Consumption Life Cycle Contributions: Assessment of practical methodologies for inhome food waste measurement. REFRESH Deliverable 1.3. 641933, 131. https://eurefresh.org/consumption-life-cycle-contributions-assessment-practical-methodologieshome-food-waste-measurement
- Vial-Mones B., Gil J.M., Diaz-Ruiz R., (2019). From evaluation to action, testing the impact on food waste prevention through nudging strategies in school canteens. Conference Presentation. European Roundtable on Sustainable Consumption and Production. Barcelona.
- Visschers, V. H. M., Wickli, N., & Siegrist, M. (2016). Sorting out food waste behaviour: A survey on the motivators and barriers of self-reported amounts of food waste in households. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 45, 66–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2015.11.007
- Wajon, E., & Richter, J. (2019). Students 'Intention to Reduce Food Waste An approach with an extended version of the Theory of Planned Behaviour. Master Thesis, June.
- Warde, A. (2005). Consumption and theories of practice. Journal of Consumer Culture, 5(2), 131–153. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540505053090
- WRAP. (2007). Food behaviour consumer research: Quantitative phase. Retrieved March 2, 2015, from http://www.wrap.org.uk/sites/files/wrap/Food% 20behaviour%20consumer%20research%20quantitative%20jun%202007.pdf.
- Wunder, S., Van Herpen, E., McFarland, K., Ritter, A., Van Geffen, L., Stenmarck, Å., & Hulten, J. (2019). Policies against consumer food waste. 641933. https://eu-refresh.org/policies-against-consumer-food-waste
- Zhang, Z., Wang, X. (2020). Nudging to promote household waste source separation: Mechanisms and spillover effects, *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 162, 105054,